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The Co-op Block and Ireland Bank building at the corner of Main and Bannock 
in Malad was constructed in two stages. Two flanking sections, the angled 
faces of which face directly on Main and Bannock streets, are the wings of 
an L-shaped structure which was built in 1893 around a frame building then 
occupying the corner lot. The later "flat-iron" section on the corner re­ 
placed its frame predecessor and was occupied by the J. N. Ireland and Co. 
Bank in 1907. The entire block is constructed of brick, originally red, 
now white-washed.

The corner section, not surprisingly since it is a decade-and-a-half later 
in date, is more austere in design than are the 1893 facades. It is an 
example of the Second Renaissance Revival style of architecture. The side- 
wall cornices are plain, the second-story windows squareheaded and adorned 
only by stepped courses of brick above and plain flat pilasters between. 
These vertical elements are balanced, and the solidity and stability of 
the structure is emphasized, by wide horizontal bands on the first story, 
created by insetting every sixth course of bricks. The major decorative 
emphasis, however, is reserved for the narrow entrance wall at the corner. 
The round-arched door is approached by a short flight of curved steps. It 
is flanked by Ionic columns which stand on tall plain bases and support a 
plain entablature and flat projecting cornice. Above the entrance is a 
tall window, also round-arched; it is fronted by a small classical balus­ 
trade, surrounded by decorative brickwork in a voussior motif, and sur­ 
mounted by stepped courses. At roof line is a cornice ornament with 
volutes and finial knobs.

The L-shaped 1893 section presents two almost identical facades, one on 
Main and one on Bannock. They boast much more decorative detail than does 
the flat-iron section. Metal cornices, supported on paired brackets set 
against a decorated frieze, run above the first floor shopfronts. The 
second-story windows are double-hung sashes, with transoms, a pair in each 
bay; they are segmentally-arched with keystones. Above them are stepped 
and toothed courses of brick. The upper facades of these sections of the 
buildings are their most striking feature. Only one of them retains its 
original central pediment, but the cornice ornaments, with the name and 
date of the building in wooden letters and numerals, survive. The upper 
facades contain wooden cornices supported by large and small brackets; 
narrow decorative friezes which repeat circular, pyramidal and sunburst 
designs; and, perhaps most remarkable, carved wooden grotesque faces at 
each corner, supported on broad corbels themselves carved with leaf, claw 
and sawtooth designs.
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One of Idaho's two or three surviving structures reminiscent of the 
Mormon United Order cooperative movement of 1874, this building repre­ 
sents an important phase of nineteenth century history. Following 
incorporation of ZCMI (Zion's Cooperative Mercantile Institution) in 
Salt Lake in 1868, the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints 
responded to problems associated with the Panic of 1873 and to early 
Utah and Idaho anti-Mormon economic pressure with an expansion of their 
own separate cooperative system. In 1874 Brigham Young organized the 
United Order of Enoch, which developed along four different lines of 
cooperation. These ranged from cooperatives which managed an entire 
community economy or owned all property in a community to simple ex­ 
pansion of existing cooperatives and adaptions for cooperative invest­ 
ment in communities not exclusively Mormon. Malad came in this latter 
class.

A cosmopolitan community of Mormons, gentiles, Josephites, and apostates 
who got along with a surprising degree of political harmony until 
strains associated with national anti-Mormon political and economic 
development proved too disturbing in I87bf**'A- major stage and freighters' 
outpost on the Montana road, Malad had to rely upon traffic from anti- 
Mormon Corinne (a Utah railhead community engaged in a bitter clash 
with Mormon economic cooperatives) for support in competing with a 
rival combine of Logan and Franklin interests which gained ascendency 
when the Utah Northern reached Franklin in 1874. Malad consequently 
entered the United Order movement somewhat belatedly. Finally Daniel 
Daniels, bishop of Malad, organized his Malad Cooperative, February 
18, 1877. This institution occupied the site of his bishop's store­ 
house and survived longer than many of the United Orders. Finally 
about 1882, this cooperative was reorganized in receivership by D. L. 
Evans—a Mormon business leader prominent in Malad's financial and 
banking enterprises. Because of severe anti-Mormon political pressures, 
Evans' business became less closely identified with the church in 1888, 
but continued to prosper. In 1893, a new addition was built around 
the original frame bishop's storehouse, which was replaced by J. N. 
Ireland's bank (an 1892 institution of which Evans became president) 
in 1907. Finally in 1914, Evans expanded his interest and his general 
store was renamed the Evans Co-op. The structure also housed a meeting
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This nomination includes the Co-op Block and Ireland Bank building at the 
corner of Main and Bannock Streets in Malad, and the property on which it 
stands, owned in 1978 by the D. L. Evans Estate.
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and dance hall on the second floor, and an early bowling alley. The 
Evans Co-op still operates from a Bannock Street storefront; the J. 
N. Ireland Bank is also still in operation, though in a new location. 
The old bank lobby now contains a display of artifacts maintained by 
the Daughters of Utah pioneers.

The Co-op Block in Malad is architecturally significant on several 
counts. Its several sections, none of them four-square to the streets 
they face, are an interesting structural response to an oddly-shaped 
but commercially very desirable lot on the town's major intersection. 
As the flanking and central sections were built at a 15-year interval 
from each other, they afford a good example of the direction of change 
in commercial architectural style during this period. And the decora­ 
tive treatment of the upper facades of the older section, particularly 
the carving of the grotesques, is a most interesting and unusual display 
of folk art in an architectural setting.


